Data Submitted (UTC 11): 4/3/2015 12:00:00 AM

First name: Katherine Last name: Davis Organization:

Title:

Comments: Cibola National Forest Scoping Comments

Dear Champe Green and Forest Planning Staff,

Please accept the attached comments submitted on behalf of the Center for Biological Diversity in response to the scoping notice for the Cibola National Forest plan revision process. A digital copy of these comments and the scientific references cited therein will follow in by certified mail.

I would like to stay involved in the forest planning process and be notified of all updates and opportunities for participation.

If you have any questions about these comments, please feel free to contact me using the information provided below.

Sincerely,

Katie Davis

Katie Davis

Public Lands Campaigner CENTER for BIOLOGICAL DIVERSITY P.O. Box 710

Tucson, AZ 85702-0710 Office: (520) 345-5708 Cell: (801) 560-2414

www.BiologicalDiversity.org

For the latest updates on public lands in the Southwest, follow me on Twitter @KDavis_CBD https://twitter.com/KDavis_CBD.

Following is the complete text from the attached PDF--pasted into this text box by Forest Service personnel.

Sent via email and certified email.

April 3, 2015

Mr. Champe Green, Forest Planner

Cibola National Forest and National Grasslands 2113 Osuna Rd. NE.

Albuquerque, NM 87113

Email: comments-southwestern-cibola@fs.fed.us

RE: Notice of Intent to Revise the Land and Resource Management Plan for the Cibola National Forest Mountain Ranger Districts

Dear Mr. Green and Forest Planning Staff,

Please accept the following comments submitted on behalf of the Center for Biological Diversity in response to the notice of intent to revise the land and resource management plan for the Cibola National Forest Mountain Ranger Districts, published in the Federal Register February 9, 2015. The published notice stated that comments received by April 3, 2015 would be most useful, making these comments timely.

The Center for Biological Diversity (the Center) is a national, nonprofit conservation organization with more than 800,000 members and online activists dedicated to the protection of endangered species and wild places. The members and activists of the Center are concerned with the management of our federal public lands, including our national forests, especially as that management relates to the protection, recovery, and viability of native species and habitat. While we maintain members and supporters within the counties where ranger districts of the Cibola National Forest are located, our national public lands are to be managed for the benefit of all Americans, and we therefore speak for all our members and supporters throughout the United States.

The Center intends for these comments to be comprehensive and easily understandable, however, if the Forest Service requires additional information about a recommendation or proposed course of action, the Center requests the opportunity to elaborate and provide additional information.

Please note that relevant scientific documents cited within these comments have been included with the copy of our comments sent on via certified mail in electronic form. We request that all references and documents submitted be incorporated into the administrative record for this project.

Table of Contents
I.Introduction3
a.Legal Requirements3
b.Monitoring and Adaptive Management5
II.General Recommendations for the Development of the Forest Plan5
III.Wildlife Management Information and Recommendations8
a.General Species Viability and Habitat8
b.Threatened and Endangered Species10
i.Mexican Spotted Owl11
ii.Mexican Gray Wolf14
iii.Zuni Fleabane16

iv.Riparian Dependent Species17
IV.Grazing Management Information and Recommendations19
V.Water Management Information and Recommendations22
VI.Vegetation Management Information and Recommendations23
VII.Recreation and Roads Information and Recommendations26
a.Minimum Road System27
b.Motorized Travel Only on Designated Roads and Trails28
c.Sustainable Recreation30
VIII.Conclusion34
Scientific References35

I.Introduction

a.Legal Requirements

Under the National Forest Management Act of 1976 (NFMA), the Forest Service was required to develop guidelines to ensure forest management plans "provide for the diversity of plant and animal communities based on the suitability and capability of the specific land area . . . [and] provide . . . for steps to be taken to preserve the diversity of tree species similar to that existing in the region "1 In 2012, the Forest Service published final regulations, pursuant to its NFMA mandate, to guide the development of land and resource management plans of all national forests throughout the United States.2

Within the 2012 Rule, the Forest Service reiterated and elaborated on NFMA's stated goals for providing for and protecting species diversity. Specifically, the 2012 Rule requires that plans ensure that forests "consist of ecosystems and watersheds with ecological integrity and diverse plant and animal communities," and provide ecological benefits including "habitat for fish, wildlife, and plant communities." To achieve this, the 2012 Rule adopted "a complementary ecosystem and species-specific approach to maintaining [plant and animal diversity]." This approach requires the Forest Service to develop forest "plan components, including standards and guidelines, to maintain or restore the ecological integrity of terrestrial and aquatic ecosystems and watersheds," as well as the "the diversity of ecosystems and habitat types." In cases where plan components developed using this ecosystem-approach fail to adequately contribute to the recovery of federally listed species or maintenance of viable populations of species of conservation concern, species-specific components must be developed to achieve these goals.6

In all cases, plan components must be developed using "the best available scientific information." And the Forest Service must document how the best available science was used to formulate the plan and the monitoring program. This type of documentation specifically requires the Forest Service to: "Identify what information was determined to be the best available scientific information, explain the basis for that determination, and explain how the information was applied to the issues considered."

The dual ecosystem- and species-specific approaches called for in the 2012 Rule have the potential to lead to the improvement of all ecosystems and habitats within the Cibola National Forest. The Center supports the development of ecosystem-level plan components to achieve greater ecosystem resiliency, watershed health, habitat connectivity, and greater protection of the region-wide ecosystem of western New Mexico. However, the Center also finds that based on the best available science, the Cibola's own assessment of forest conditions, and the manageable specific threats facing species within the forest, species-specific plan components for listed and sensitive species are also required to meet the Forest Service's mandates under NFMA and the 2012 Rule.

Additionally, the Forest Service cannot rely only on the identification of desired conditions to meet the requirements of the 2012 Rule or provide sufficient management direction for the forest plan. This is especially true in the context of ensuring the protection of resources, as required under NFMA and the

```
1 16 U.S.C. § 1604(g)(3)(B) (2012).

2 See generally 36 C.F.R. § 219.1 et seq. (2014) (hereinafter 2012 Rule).

3 36 C.F.R. § 219.1(c).

4 Id. § 219.9

5 Id.

6 Id.

7 Id. § 219.3

8 Id.

9 Id.
```

2012 Rule. Therefore, while identification of desired conditions is an important element to forest planning, standards and guidelines must also be established and must provide for sufficient certainty for future management actions in order for the Forest Service to avoid violating legal requirements under federal statutes and regulations.

This comment letter serves to provide both background information relevant to specific topics of concern that should be addressed within the revised Cibola National Forest land and resource management plan and specific recommendations designed to meet the requirements of the 2012 Rule, the provisions of the Endangered Species Act10, and other federal statutes and regulations. Our recommendations should be used to formulate components of the Forest Service's preferred proposed plan alternative and components of other evaluated alternatives, as appropriate. All of the recommendations for management provided within this comment are reasonable approaches within the Cibola National Forest that meet the purpose and needs for this action, and therefore their associated direct and indirect environmental effects should be analyzed within the Environmental Impact Statement (EIS) for this plan revision. As stated in the Council of Environmental Quality's National Environmental Policy Act (NEPA) implementing regulations, an EIS must "[r]igorously explore and objectively evaluate all reasonable alternatives" and "devote substantial treatment to each alternative considered."11 If an alternative approach to management proposed within these comments is not incorporated into an alternative or is eliminated from further study within the EIS and plan revision process, the Forest Service must provide the rationale for such a decision.12 We expect the Forest Service to respond substantively to each issue raised in these comments pursuant to the requirements of NEPA.13

In addition to analyzing and incorporating the Center's suggestions in to plan components and alternatives, the Forest Service has a responsibility to develop a wide range of alternatives to study within this plan revision process. The range of alternatives is "the heart of the environmental impact statement."14 NEPA requires agencies to "rigorously explore and objectively evaluate" a range of alternatives.15 NEPA requirements state that "no action concerning the proposal should be taken which would: (1) Have an adverse environmental impact; or (2) Limit the choice of reasonable alternatives."16

The Forest Service must "study, develop, and describe appropriate alternatives to recommended courses of action in any proposal which involves unresolved conflicts concerning alternative uses of available resources."17 There are many unresolved conflicts within the scope of this planning process, and the Forest Service has a responsibility to fully develop alternatives which provide a range of different management strategies for the various uses of the Cibola National Forest. Of equal importance, the Forest Service must adequately "describe the environment of the areas to be affected or created by the alternatives under consideration."18 Establishment of baseline conditions is a requirement of NEPA.19

11 40 C.F.R. § 1502.14.

12 ld.

13 As required by 40 C.F.R. § 1503.4(a).

14 ld

15 See 40 C.F.R. §§ 1502.14(a) and 1508.25(c).

16 40 C.F.R. § 1506.1(a). Catron County v. U.S Fish and Wildlife Service, 75 F.2d 1429 (10th Cir. 1996)(partial NEPA compliance is not enough.) In addition, the law requires consideration of a range of mitigation measures. See

Kootenai Tribe of Idaho v. Veneman, 313 F.3d 1094,1122-1123 (9th Cir. 2002) (and cases cited therein) (stating that agencies must develop and analyze environmentally protective alternatives in order to comply with NEPA). 17 42 U.S.C. § 4332(2)(C) and (E).

18 40 C.F.R. §1502.15.

19 In Half Moon Bay Fisherman's Marketing Ass'n v.Carlucci, 857 F.2d 505, 510 (9th Cir. 1988), the Ninth Circuit states that "without establishing . . . baseline conditions . . . there is simply no way to determine what effect [an action] will have on the environment, and consequently, no way to comply with NEPA." The court further held that.

b. Monitoring and Adaptive Management

In addition to providing direction for the development of forest management strategies, the 2012 Rule dictated that the Forest Service create plans that incorporate "responsive planning," which in this case requires a detailed monitoring program.20 While the specifics of the monitoring program adopted by each forest are left to the discretion of the Forest Service, the general principle to be followed is to create a plan that will result in the collection of information that "should enable the responsible official to determine if a change in plan components . . . may be needed."21 Given the ongoing research into best forest management practices, the range of potential impacts associated with climate change, and the amount of time this plan will provide management guidance, it is essential that the Cibola National Forest monitoring program be robust and scientifically-based. Under the 2012 Rule, the monitoring program must include questions and associated indicators, which will operate by "testing relevant assumptions, tracking relevant changes, and measuring management effectiveness and progress toward achieving or maintaining the plan's desired conditions or objectives."22 Essentially, the monitoring program should act as the backbone of the adaptive management strategy to be employed by the Forest Service.

Science-based adaptive management involves "treating management interventions as experiments, the outcomes of which are monitored and fed back into management planning" (Gillson et al. 140). Essentially, as outlined by land management experts, an adaptive management approach to forest management should include creation of management strategies (plan components/specific action alternatives in this case), implementation of those strategies/actions, monitoring of the effects (under the monitoring plan developed as part of this plan revision process), and pre-determined triggers for changes in management based on the results of monitoring (Nie and Schultz 2012). In some cases, it may be appropriate for the Forest Service to identify a range of management strategies for a specific forest use, such as livestock grazing, which could be used at different times based on relevant conditions and the results of monitoring. The range of management strategies and identification of trigger points for more project-specific actions may be developed later in time during project-specific NEPA, but this plan should call for such an approach as a general method of management.

As a general matter, if the Forest Service intends on adopting an adaptive management approach to forest planning, or for specific activities authorized by the Cibola National Forest plan, such adaptive management should follow science-based standards and include defined and specific trigger points that result in either identified changes in management strategy or the initiation of a public input process to revise management guidelines. The primary goal of the Forest Service in adopting this general management approach should be to manage forest resources to meet desired conditions for forest resources, including wildlife species and habitat,

while allowing for changes in management if monitoring indicates that desired conditions are not being met, before conditions have deteriorated past the point at which the Forest Service can remedy the problem.

II.General Recommendations for the Development of the Forest Plan

The Forest Service has a responsibility to undertake management of national forests in the public interest and to provide for species diversity, recovery, and viability throughout the Cibola National Forest. These overarching responsibilities must guide the development of plan components that will drive management

"The concept of a baseline against which to compare predictions of the effects of the proposed action and reasonable alternatives is critical to the NEPA process."

20 36 C.F.R. § 219.5.

21 ld. § 219.12(a).

22 ld. § 219.12(a)(2).

of the Cibola National Forest in the 21st century, according to best available science, and with the understanding that some ecological processes and natural resources have been and will continue to be profoundly affected by human actions, uses, climate change and other stressors. Fundamentally, the Forest Service must reconsider all previous management prescriptions and assumptions in completing this plan revision.

As an initial matter, the Forest Service must assess how current and historic management has impacted ecosystems, including identifying management actions that have degraded and impaired conditions of ecosystems and habitat forest-wide. The Forest Service cannot properly manage the Cibola National Forest without identifying and then changing standards and guidelines that previously have moved the forest away from desired conditions or had negative impacts on forest ecosystems. Likewise, the Forest Service should identify current plan components that have resulted in positive impacts to forest ecosystems, and analyze how retaining these components would affect future conditions.

Another key component of this plan revision process should be the identification of the current and potential impacts of climate change on the Cibola National Forest's wildlife and habitat resources. Following this analysis of impacts, the Forest Service should attempt to design plan components that are designed to either mitigate or prevent the impacts to species and habitats. Climate change in the southwestern United States is not a problem of the future, but rather one that is already occurring and impacting forest resources. Scientific research and monitoring demonstrate that within the Southwest, average temperatures are increasing, severe drought is occurring, and flows of rivers and streams are lower than in the past (Garfin et al. 2013). These conditions are likely to continue into the future, but climate change also has the potential to result in longer and hotter summers, decreases in overall precipitation, more extreme shifts in weather patterns, intensified droughts, and both increased flooding and decreased average streamflows (Garfin et al. 2013). All of these anticipated changes in regional weather will impact the Cibola National Forest.

One of the particularly challenging aspects of regional climate change, from the perspective of forest management, is the likely impact on distribution and size of specific forest ecosystem types. Studies of ecosystem response to climate over thousands of years in the Southwest indicate that "montane plant communities . . . are moving higher in elevation in step with climate warming" and "the area occupied by montane woodland and conifer forests . . . is likely to decrease" (Brusca et al. 2013). Climate modeling suggests that savanna, grassland, and Southwest desert ecosystems are likely to increase, due to changes in amount and timing of precipitation (Joyce and Birdsey 2000: 23-28). While the same study found that southwestern mixed pine ecosystems may increase throughout the United States, such increases would come due to a general migration of these ecosystems north, not through greater distribution in the southwest.

Climate change has and will also exacerbate the negative impacts from current and historical mis- management of the Cibola National Forest by the Forest Service. Specifically, management that has allowed the following to occur: widespread livestock grazing resulting in introduction of invasive species, disruption of grassland fire regimes, and erosion; livestock grazing within sensitive habitats, such as in riparian areas and wetlands; off-road vehicle use off roads and trails; uranium mining within sensitive habitats and without regard to the impact on water quality and availability, as well as human health; suppression of naturally-caused fire; and logging. Human activities such as these, which are permitted and overseen by the Forest Service, have disrupted native ecosystems and are the primary causes of the decline in abundance and diversity of native species. The Forest Service must use this plan revision process to revise current management direction that has prioritized human activities over native species habitat needs and requirements for recovery of at-risk and listed species. Such revised management direction must be crafted through a precautionary approach that aims to restore habitats, mitigate or prevent likely impacts associated with climate change, and prevent further negative impacts to species by

significantly minimizing the scope and impacts of permitted human activities within the Cibola National Forest.

In order to adequately address the current degraded state of forest ecosystems, the needs of listed and at-risk species, the widespread and general impacts associated with climate change, and historical mis- management of forest resources, the Forest Service must look at the entire landscape of the Cibola National Forest and identify the overall desired conditions, standards, guidelines, and objectives that should drive the development of more specific plan components.

These plan components must be broad, but they should lead to the development of other more specific plan components for specific forest resources and uses that will facilitate ecosystem-level planning and forest restoration work, prevention of further habitat and ecosystem degradation, and long-term sustainability and recovery of all forest ecosystems and habitat.

Recommended Forest-Wide Management Approach:

In general, management of the Cibola National Forest should prioritize the protection and recovery of species and habitat. Focusing on the protection of and restoration of species' habitat and ensuring recovery and viability of species is not at odds with the Forest Service's multiple-use mandate. Instead, it recognizes that many wildlife species, including both native plants and animals, are currently at-risk and must be managed appropriately to ensure their future survival. The Forest Service has the responsibility to manage public lands for the benefit of all Americans, which includes limiting or mitigating permitted and allowable human activities in a responsible manner that protects natural resources.

Recommended Forest-Wide Plan Components:

Desired Conditions

- *Natural fire regimes are functional and assist in the recovery of ecosystems and habitats that have been altered and are departed from reference conditions.
- *Natural disturbances, such as fire, disease, and insect outbreaks, occur within the Cibola National Forest at regular intervals similar to historical conditions and promote habitat diversity.
- *Habitat corridors within the Cibola National Forest are well-defined and free from human obstructions and barriers to movement.
- *Native plant and animal species are abundant, diverse, and found throughout the forest.
- *Water resources are free of pollution and blockages.
- *Large spaces of diverse forest habitat are maintained in a natural state.

Standards

- *Projects and permits must be designed to provide buffer zones and avoid impacts to identified habitat corridors.
- *Permitted activities and projects must not impair stream flows, water quality, or structure.
- *Invasive species removal projects can only use pesticides and other chemical methods of control as a last resort, and such use must be limited in scope and applied through on-the-ground application, rather than through aerial dispersal or other large-scale application methods.
- *Motorized recreation is not allowed off designated roads and trails, as identified in district level travel management plans.

Guidelines

- *Natural disturbances such as insect outbreaks, disease, and fire, are managed with the goal of restoring natural disturbance processes and cycles to promote ecosystem restoration.
- *Projects designed to restore natural ecosystems are prioritized and created using best available science.

Objectives

- *Habitat corridors for migratory, wide-ranging, and other species are assessed and mapped.
- III.Wildlife Management Information and Recommendations
- a. General Species Viability and Habitat

As discussed above, the 2012 Rule requires the Forest Service to ensure species diversity and viability through specific plan components. Ecosystem-level plan components are appropriate to manage ecosystems, watersheds, and species habitat. Specifically, such plan components must be developed to maintain or restore "structure, function, composition, and connectivity" of ecosystems and watersheds.23 However, in many cases, these top-level plan components will be insufficient to ensure the recovery of listed species or the viability of species of conservation concern. In these cases, the Forest Service must develop species-specific plan components, including standards and guidelines, to ensure ecological conditions will support recovery and viability.24

The assessment identified a number of risks to both listed species and species of conservation concern within the Cibola National Forest. With few exceptions, the assessment noted that all Ecological Response Units (ERUs), which are general classifications that correlate to common habitat types, within the Cibola National Forest are departed from reference conditions. Specifically, the Cibola National Forest identified the following widespread problems plaguing most ecosystem types: disruptions of fire regimes, an increase in younger and smaller vegetation, and prolonged drought.25 Along with general threats to ecosystem types, the assessment also laid out a number of general threats to species, which included: harassment, invasive species introduction and spread, disease, parasitism, obstruction of habitat, and predation.26 There is a need to change current management in order to address these general problem s, on both the ecosystem and species-specific levels.

Not specifically mentioned, but nonetheless important to consider for each of the threats identified, is climate change's likely intensification of all stressors on plant and animal populations. When faced with stress, species respond through changes in behavior in an attempt to avoid or mitigate potential negative impacts. One way of avoiding or mitigating stress is to migrate to areas free of the stressor. Research has demonstrated that increased migration, specifically northward and to higher elevations, is indeed a direct effect of climate change in the United States. For instance, 58 percent of observed bird species have permanently migrated north, on average 35 miles north of their original home range, over the past four decades, most likely due to climate change.27 Because of the inter-dependence of species within an ecosystem, migration of one species is likely to lead to migration of other species.

Fortunately, the Forest Service has the ability to mitigate both the impacts from climate change on species and habitat and stressors other than climate change that may make species adaptation unlikely. Numerous studies have shown that "intact ecosystems that retain their full complement of species are more likely to

23 36 C.F.R. § 219.9(a).

24 ld. § 219.9(b).

25 Assessment Report of Ecological / Social / Economic Conditions, Trends, and Risks to Sustainability, Cibola National Forest Mountain Ranger Districts, Volume I. February 9, 2015 at 204-205.
26 Id. at 207-208.

27 National Audubon Society, Inc. Birds and Climate Change: Ecological Disruption in Motion (Feb. 2009), pg. 3, available at http://www.audubon.org/sites/default/files/documents/bacc-ecologicaldisruptioninmotion_feb2009.pdf.

be buffered from the effects of climatic change" (Gillson et al. 2013). Two key strategies that scientists recommend be employed to facilitate protection of intact ecosystems and viability of species in light of climate change are: (1) "including the widest possible altitudinal range within protected areas" and (2) increasing the connectivity and permeability of protected areas, for instance by creating buffer zones (Gillson et al. 2013: 138).

While some mapping of habitat corridors has been done in NM, there is a lack of data about species- specific corridors, either for annual migration or for inter- and intra-forest movement within ranges for predators, native ungulates, or other wide-ranging species. The Center recommends the Forest Service start their analysis and identification of habitat corridors using the information provided by the New Mexico Game and Fish Department, as found at http://nmchat.org/map/ (for Wildlife Corridors). This mapping was done through modeling of cougar corridors, applied as a surrogate for other wildlife. At the very least, this mapping shows that movement between ranger districts on the Cibola is occurring and that such movement is normal behavior for predator species. Such information should be used in both the plan revision process, including during NEPA analysis of the impacts on wildlife from proposed management actions, as well as at the project level.

In addition to these general habitat protection strategies, top-level forest-wide management direction to eliminate or limit to the extent feasible the stressors for species identified by the Forest Service must be a top priority of this plan revision. The stessors identified by the Forest Service are ultimately symptoms of larger problems, namely permitted human activities such as livestock grazing, mining, logging, widespread off-road vehicle use, and water diversion projects. The Forest Service must eliminate or minimize to the extent possible these activities in order to adequately address the stressors facing at-risk species.

The incorporation of plan components that address these issues also follows neatly from the needs for change identified for general wildlife management during the assessment process:

*"There is a need to develop plan components to contribute to the recovery and conservation of federally recognized species, maintain viable populations of the species of conservation concern, and maintain common and abundant species within the plan area."

*"There is a need for the revised plan to addresses the sustainability of habitat(s) for plant and animal species important to tribes and other traditional communities."

*"There is a need for the revised plan to provide for aquatic passage and terrestrial connectivity."

Recommended Management Approach for General Species Viability and Habitat:

Many of these general threats and needs can be addressed by forest-wide, ecosystem-level plan components. In fact, for some activities and management prescriptions, such direction is necessary and appropriate. Forest-wide planning that eliminates or mitigates permitted activities with documented negative effects is essential. The Center also recommends that the Forest Service address climate change in a comprehensive way through this plan revision process. This means developing all plan components to mitigate the effects of decreased water supplies, species migration, and the continued threat posed by invasive species that benefit from stress and disturbance of native ecosystems. Habitat corridors should be identified, mapped, and protected, roads and trails should be minimized, critical habitat should be afforded special protections called for in species recovery plans, and a robust monitoring program should be developed to better document current species levels and allow for better on-going identification of problems that need to be addressed by shifts in management.

Recommended Plan Components for General Species Viability and Habitat:

Desired Conditions

- *Species have the ability to move within corridors connecting habitat, which are generally free of obstructions and human activity.
- *Threatened and endangered species are trending toward recovery, supporting the goal of eventual delisting.
- *Native plant and animal species are abundant and face little or no competition from non-native invasive species.
- *Migration pathways, both to higher elevations and northward, are available to assist species adaptation to climate change.
- *Habitat types historically found on the forest are in good condition and support a wide array of native species that have traditionally relied on such habitat.

Standards

- *Road density within the forest (calculated at the 6th HUC Watershed level excluding Inventoried Roadless Areas, Wilderness Areas, and other designated non-roaded areas) shall be maintained below 1 mile of road per square mile of land.
- *Guidelines and recommend recovery actions from listed species recovery plans must be incorporated into applicable projects and plan amendments.
- *Occupied threatened and endangered species habitat will be protected as a first priority.
- *Cibola National forest land within riparian areas, on steep slopes (>30 percent), or in areas with sensitive or high-erosion soils or grasslands found to be altered from reference conditions, shall not be deemed suitable for livestock grazing.

Guidelines

- *All projects authorized or considered within the Cibola National Forest will include specific mitigation strategies designed to protect species and habitat.
- *All projects authorized or considered within the Cibola National Forest will provide buffer zones for species' movements around disturbed areas.
- *Critical habitat is managed as a wildlife priority zone, in which human activities are minimal and strict constraints are placed on habitat modification or disturbance.

Objectives

- *Complete mapping of habitat corridors and identify opportunities for inter-agency cooperation to protect habitat corridors on public lands within the first 5 years the plan is in place.
- *Complete surveys for listed species and species of conservation concern once every 3 years, and publish such surveys for public review.

b.Threatened and Endangered Species

The following threatened and endangered species are found on the Cibola National Forest: Mexican gray wolf (endangered), western yellow-billed cuckoo (threatened), southwestern willow flycatcher (endangered), northern aplomado falcon (endangered), Mexican spotted owl (threatened), Zuni bluehead sucker (endangered), Chiricahua leopard frog (threatened), Alamosa springsnail (endangered), and Zuni fleabane (threatened). Additionally, critical habitat has been designated either on or within close proximity to the Cibola National Forest for the following species: Mexican spotted owl, Chiricahua leopard frog and Zuni bluehead sucker.

With regards to listed species, the Forest Service has a responsibility both to follow the requirements within the 2012 Rule to ensure plan components support recovery of these species and to follow the requirements of the Endangered Species Act (ESA). Under section 7 of the ESA, the Forest Service must "insure that any action authorized, funded, or carried out [by the Forest Service] is not likely to jeopardize the continued existence of any endangered species or threatened species or result in the destruction or adverse modification of [critical habitat]."28

Recommended Management Approach for Threatened and Endangered Species:

In general, the Forest Service should create species-specific plan components for all threatened and endangered species. Without such specific plan direction, it is likely that viability and recovery of listed species will warrant no additional priority than any other management goal for the forest. The threat of species extinction, or extirpation from the Cibola National Forest, is something the Forest Service needs to take seriously and address with increased specificity within the forest plan. Ecosystem-level guidance, while helpful for forest habitat recovery generally, cannot ensure recovery of listed species. A more detailed and nuance approach is necessary, and recovery plans created by the FWS should be the baseline for the Forest Service's approach.

i.Mexican Spotted Owl

The Mexican spotted owl is a well-studied species that occupies a fairly wide range within the Southwest, but is hindered in overall species recovery by the widespread threats to its habitat and viability, as well as the small number of current breeding pairs and lack of connected populations. Habitat for this species was historically numerous in the Southwest, but has since declined drastically. This habitat includes "mixed conifer habitats, proximity to riparian areas, standing snags for roosting and nesting, and typically rocky outcrops."29

Unfortunately, almost all of these habitat types are impacted in some way by human activity on the Cibola National Forest. While the Forest Service does have a multiple-use mandate, that mandate does not require the Forest Service to permit all activities in all areas of the forest, and the Center strongly advocates for the protection of Mexican spotted owl habitat within the Cibola from human activities that threaten this native and iconic species.

The U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service (FWS) has documented threats to this species, all of which are related to human activities, both current and historic. These include "domestic and wild ungulate grazing, recreation, fuels reduction treatments, resource extraction (e.g, timber, oil, gas), and development" and historic timber harvesting and fire suppression activities.30All of these, in the words of the FWS, "have the potential to reduce the quality of owl nesting, roosting, and foraging habitat, and may cause disturbance during the breeding season."31

While uncharacteristically widespread or unseasonal high-severity fire is indeed a significant problem throughout the Southwest, we caution the Forest Service to not over-rely on intensive forest restoration projects with sometimes unforeseen negative consequences to ameliorate this threat. Rather, we suggest the Forest Service acknowledge this general threat to Mexican spotted owl habitat and make a commitment to work to restore natural fire regimes using the least invasive means possible, including prioritizing prescribed fire. This is especially important in light of the accumulating evidence that fire scarred areas are an important part of Mexican spotted owl habitat and are used extensively by owls, as

28 16 U.S.C. § 1536(a)(2).

29 Cibola National Forest Assessment, vol. I, at 210.

30 U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. 5-Year Review Short Form Summary: Mexican spotted owl (August 2013), pg. 5.

available at http://www.fws.gov/southwest/es/documents/r2es/mexicanspottedowl_5-yrreview_aug2013.pdf. 31 ld.

well as evidence that forest restoration projects can affect prey animals for owls, potentially having the unintended consequence of decreasing food availability.

Monitoring of owl wintering habitat in burned areas within New Mexico resulted in the finding that prey was 2-6 times greater in abundance within previously burned areas and that Mexican spotted owls relied on these areas for prey capture and habitat to make it through the winter season, when the owls are under greater stress (Ganey et al. 2014, Ornithology). Other research into southwest frequent-fire adapted landscapes has shown that prey species relied upon by raptors such as owls also benefit from heterogeneous forest structures, including the presence of snags, large-diameter trees, and downed debris (Kalies et al. 2012). Such heterogeneous forest structure is easier to attain and more likely to benefit species when created through natural or prescribed fire, rather than intensive thinning and logging projects.

Recovery of Mexican spotted owls will require more than forest restoration projects alone - it will take a fundamental reorientation of management priorities and directives for Mexican spotted owl habitat. There are many management activities beyond forest restoration that the Forest Service can adapt and mitigate to support recovery of this species. One of the primary methods of doing this is by developing plan components for all projects within Mexican spotted owl critical habitat that closely follow recommendations and best available scientific information for the needs of owls. Due to extensive research into the needs of this species, we know that the critical elements of Mexican spotted owl habitat include the following32:

- *A range of tree species, including mixed conifer, pine-oak, and riparian forest types, composed of different tree sizes reflecting different ages of trees, 30 to 45 percent of which are large trees with diameter at breast height ([dbh]) 4.5 ft above ground)) of 12 inches or more;
- *A shade canopy created by the tree branches covering 40 percent or more of the ground and;
- *Large, dead trees (snags) with a dbh of at least 12 inches;
- *High volumes of fallen trees and other woody debris;
- *A wide range of tree and plant species, including hardwoods; and,
- *Adequate levels of residual plant cover to maintain fruits and seeds, and allow plant regeneration.

Retention of these habitat components, regardless of the project or plan, is crucial to meeting the requirements of the ESA, NFMA, and 2012 Rule for threatened species within the plan area. Moreover, recent scientific studies have documented that areas and habitat components protected as critical habitat for this species are indeed used, relied upon, and critical for Mexican spotted owls.

A study published in 2014, which documented the use of protected activity centers (PACs) within the Sacramento Mountains found that Mexican spotted owls extensively used and relied upon designated PACs and that vacant PACs were routinely re-colonized, indicating the importance of this habitat conservation concept (Ganey et al. 2014, Raptor). Important to forest management planning, the study found that owls also routinely colonized and used habitat outside of PACs, meaning that protection of PACs alone is not a sufficient management tool to provide for the needs and recovery of Mexican spotted owls (Ganey et al. 2014, Raptor: 7). Landscape-scale planning and protection of owl habitat components is necessary, including the protection of critical habitat from specific activities that have been identified as detrimental to the recovery of owls.

Recommended Management Approach for Mexican Spotted Owl:

32 U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. August 2013. 5-Year Review Short Form Summary: Mexican spotted owl Arizona Ecological Services Office at pg. 6, available at

http://www.fws.gov/southwest/es/documents/r2es/mexicanspottedowl_5-yrreview_aug2013.pdf.

The Forest Service should develop species-specific plan components for the Mexican spotted owl. This species is iconic and has been at-risk in the southwest for many decades. The previous forest plan incorporated specific guidance from the owl's recovery plan, and while guidance from recovery plans may change over time, the Forest Service should ensure that plan components require adherence to the most-recent recovery plan for any projects proposed. Additionally, more recent analysis and information of the owl and its habitat needs should be specifically analyzed to create specific plan components that will guide forest restoration projects, which should be created with the goal to assist in species recovery.

Recommended Species-Specific Plan Components for Mexican Spotted Owl:

Desired Conditions

- *Mexican spotted owls are trending toward recovery and populations within the Cibola National Forest maintain key viability factors such as genetic diversity, numerous breeding pairs, and ability to withstand and recover from natural disturbances.
- *Critical habitat for Mexican spotted owl is intact and free from most human activities and disturbances.
- *Mexican spotted owl prey species are abundant and widespread.
- *Mixed conifer, pine-oak, and riparian forest types contain a wide range of native tree and plant species composed of different sizes and ages.
- *Mixed conifer, pine-oak, and riparian forest types contain high volumes of fallen trees and other woody debris.
- *Habitat outside of existing PACs is managed to allow for and support re-colonization of Mexican spotted owl individuals.

Standards

- *Habitat restoration projects within Mexican spotted owl habitat must incorporate standards, guidelines, and recommendations from the most recent recovery plan developed by the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service.
- *Before initiation of any forest restoration project, Mexican spotted owl surveys must be conducted and the results included as part of the publically accessible project record.
- *Projects within mixed conifer, pine-oak, and riparian forest types occupied by Mexican spotted owl must incorporate the following management prescriptions:
- oLarge trees with diameter at breast height of 12 inches or more are retained, unless removal is necessary documented potential for destruction of Mexican spotted owl occupied habitat;
- oLarge, dead trees (snags) with a dbh of at least 12 inches are retained;
- oAdequate levels of residual plant cover must be maintained to allow for plant regeneration.
- *Pre- and post-treatment monitoring must be conducted in all protected activity centers treated for fire risk abatement.
- *Forest restoration and other human activities will not take place during Mexican spotted owl breeding season (March 1-August 31).
- *Livestock grazing shall not be permitted within riparian habitat designated as Mexican spotted owl critical habitat or that Mexican spotted owls are known to occupy.

Guidelines

*Prescribed fire is the primary method of forest restoration used within Mexican spotted owl habitat, except in cases where best available science and on-the-ground surveys indicate that mechanical or hand thinning must

occur to avoid destruction of occupied habitat.

*Road or trail building in protected activity centers should be avoided.

Objectives

*Complete a forest-wide Mexican spotted owl population survey within 5 years of plan implementation to guide future management decisions.

*Develop a species-specific monitoring program that includes specific timelines and trigger points that would require additional analysis of or changes in management.

ii.Mexican Gray Wolf

In January 2015, the Fish and Wildlife Services (FWS) issued a final rule listing the Mexican gray wolf (Canus lupus baileyi) as an endangered subspecies under the ESA.33 This listing decision highlights the perilous position of the Mexican wolf within the United States. The only current known living members of the species stem from the population of reintroduced wolves, as the species was previously extirpated within the United States. Mexican wolves are native to New Mexico and historically were present within the boundaries of the Cibola National Forest. Additionally, the Cibola National Forest's proximity to the Gila National Forest (where Mexican wolves are already present), means that the Cibola is likely to be one of the first forests re-inhabited by wolves under the new recovery regime.

The FWS has stated that the reintroduced population of Mexican wolves, at least one pack of which previously inhabited the Cibola, is "fundamentally necessary" for Mexican wolf recovery.34 Under a new rule regarding the experimental population of wolves that is managed by the FWS, the Magdalena Ranger District of the Cibola National Forest is now designated as Zone 1 area where initial releases of Mexican wolves into the wild can occur.35 Other ranger districts within the Cibola fall within Zone 2 of the reintroduction program, which means wolves are "allowed to naturally disperse and occupy" and can be translocated into these ranger districts.36

The Forest Service has a responsibility to tailor land management plans to support recovery of endangered species, even if those species are controversial or only partially impacted by management within a particular forest. Recovery of the Mexican wolf in Southwest will "depend on establishment of a metapopulation or several semi-disjunct but viable populations spanning a significant portion of its historic range in the region" (Carroll et al. 2006). The US Supreme Court held in TVA v. Hill 437 U.S.

153 (1978) that the Endangered Species Act is the highest priority for all federal agencies, and Forest Service guidance, as well as NEPA requires the agency to use the best science available when making its decisions.37 Establishment of packs and lone individuals within the Cibola National Forest must be supported and planned for as part of this plan revision process, particularly because the Cibola is itself a disjunct forest whose noncontiguous units can help support a metapopulation including the permeability to wolf genetic exchange that is fundamental to conservation of Mexican wolves, which suffer from inbreeding.

Within the Cibola National Forest the threats to wolf establishment and population growth are the same as elsewhere: Illegal shootings and management (government) killings and live-removals on behalf of the livestock industry or, as permitted under the final rule, on behalf of hunting interests. The incidence of

```
33 80 Fed. Reg. 2488 (Jan. 16, 2015).
34 78 Fed. Reg. at 35732-35733 (June 13, 2013).
35 80 Fed. Reg. at 2523.
36 Id. at 2559.
```

37 See Forest Service Handbook 1909.12, 42.1 (2013), see also National Environmental Policy Act 40 C.F.R. § 1500.1(b); See also Executive Order 13563 (2011), affirming Executive Order 12866 (1993); See also

Endangered

Species Act 16 U.S.C. 1533 (b)(1)(A).

illegal shootings can be lessened in part through lowering road access and density. Management removals, at least those responding to wolf depredations, can be greatly lessened through preventing depredations rather than removing the wolves as scapegoats. Many means have been found to be effective in preventing depredations, and a suite of preventative measures should be required on the Cibola. For example, seasonal, chronologically "pulsed" calving along with a year-round regular human presence can make cattle less vulnerable to predators and assist early detection of cattle mortality from a variety of causes (Breck et al. 2011). Scavenging on livestock carcasses often brings wolves into close proximity with live domestic animals that are in poor shape and vulnerable to predation; scavenging on livestock may also cause wolves to seek out stock in lieu of natural prey.38 Killing or removing live Mexican wolves for the purposes of remediating livestock depredations is unnecessary and unproductive (Harper et al. 2008), and is acutely inhumane given wolves' intelligence, understanding, and close social ties.

Management removals have also played a significant role in retarding recovery of the Mexican wolf. Within our national forests where the grazing of livestock is subsidized by American taxpayers, the Forest Service should prioritize the interests of all Americans and support recovery of endangered native animals such as the Mexican wolf over the pecuniary interests of the local livestock industry.

The Forest Service's current approach to permitting and authorizing livestock grazing operations does not incorporate planning or requirements for using best practices or maintain operating flexibility to minimize wolf-livestock interactions. The Forest Service has the authority to adapt Annual Operating Instructions to respond to conditions on the ground, which includes the presence of wolves within an allotment or pasture. Working with state and federal wildlife agencies, the Forest Service could take a proactive approach to addressing the needs of both wolves and livestock permittees before conflicts arise, rather than after. Part of this will be placing restrictions on permitted operations, but another component will be to retain management flexibility to respond to and prevent conflicts.

Ultimately, it is the responsibility of the Forest Service to ensure that policy and practice in the permitting and management of livestock do not threaten the existence of native wildlife. Placing reasonable requirements on the activities and permits of livestock grazers is appropriate and necessary. Specifically, the 3-year review for Mexican grey wolves recommended requiring livestock owners to take responsibility for carcass removal disposal.39 Failure to take management action to prevent a significant threat the Mexican grey wolf on our public lands would be unacceptable.

Recommended Management Approach for Mexican Wolf:

The Forest Service should develop species-specific plan components for the Mexican wolf that address the primary problem within national forests that results in the death of wolves - livestock grazing that is not done using best available science regarding how to minimize livestock depredation by wolves. This requires both grazing permit restrictions and also incorporation of strategies to prevent wolf conflicts into operating instructions.

Also, road closures and road density standards should be developed to ensure wolf persistence. Studies of roads impacts on wolf habitat in the northern Great Lakes region are likely to be applicable to the Mexican wolf, as well. Mladenoff et al. (1995) found that few portions of any wolf pack territory throughout this region were located in areas of road density greater than 0.45 km/km2. Core areas (defined as 40 percent use) did not exceed road densities of 0.23 km/km2 and no portion of any pack area was in an area of road density greater than 1.0 km/km2 (Mladenoff et al. 1995). Thiel (1985) reported

review and assessment. Conservation Breeding Specialist Group, International Union for the Conservation of Nature. Report to the U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service, Albuquerque, NM. Pages 67-68. 39 ld. at 69.

that wolves in Wisconsin could not survive in areas with road densities higher that 0.6 km/km2. Jensen et al. (1986) documented a maximum road density for wolf occupancy of 0.6 km/km2 on the Ontario- Michigan border. Mech et al. (1988) found wolves absent in northern Minnesota areas with road densities above 0.58 km/km2. Mech (1989) later reported that wolves persisted in areas with road densities greater than 0.58 km/km2 if they were adjacent to extensive roadless areas. In the Gila and Apache National Forests where Mexican wolves have lived since reintroduction in 1998, all or almost all of the dozens of wolves that are known to have been illegally killed were killed in areas with road access.40

Recommended Species-Specific Plan Components for Mexican Wolf:

Desired Conditions

- *Mexican grey wolves establish wide-ranging and viable populations within the Cibola National Forest.
- *Conflicts between livestock permittees and wolves are prevented and when they occur, wolves are permitted to stay on the forest instead of being removed.
- *Re-establishment of wolves into the Cibola National Forest results in the restoration of natural food webs and ecosystem interactions, facilitating the improvement of all habitat types.
- *Local economies are boosted by the increase in visitors to the Cibola National Forest who wish to see and experience wolves in the wild.

Standards

- *Owners of livestock must remove or render inedible (through lime, fire, explosives or other authorized means consistent with public safety) in a timely manner the carcasses of stock that are not killed by wolves.
- *Feeding of wolves or attracting them with food is prohibited.
- *Livestock permittees that impermissibly leave carcasses on grazing allotments or are found to be baiting wolves will have their permit revoked.
- *Annual Operating Instructions (AOIs) for grazing allotments and permits shall acknowledge the potential presence of wolves and shall outline specific adaptive management strategies to prevent or minimize wolf depredations on livestock.

Guidelines

- *Incidents of wolves in the vicinity of or scavenging or having scavenged on attractants shall be recorded and maintained
- *Grazing permit terms and conditions should include measures designed to place the responsibility for locating and removing or rendering inedible livestock carcasses on permittees.

Objectives

*Working with wildlife experts and state and federal agencies, the Forest Service shall develop a program to train livestock permittees in non-lethal and preventative methods for protecting livestock from wolf depredation.

iii.Zuni Fleabane

within half a mile of the wilderness area's northern boundary which is bordered near where the animal was killed by a spur of Forest Road 142.

The Zuni fleabane is a rare endemic flowering plant species found in very few locations within the Southwest, one of which in the Magdalena Ranger District, specifically Mt. Taylor. It has evolved to specialized habitat on nearly bare shale outcrops.

One of the primary threats to this species throughout its range is historical, current, and proposed uranium mining. As the 5-year review for this species put it, "removing the threat of uranium mining from occupied Zuni fleabane habitats is the most salient criterion for recovery of this species."41 Additional concerns for this species stem from off-road vehicle use on sensitive soils and slopes where the Zuni fleabane is known to thrive, however, that concern is primarily historical.42

Recommended Species-Specific Plan Components for Zuni Fleabane:

Desired Conditions

- *Zuni fleabane habitat is protected from human disturbance.
- *Zuni fleabane is found throughout its historical range within the Cibola National Forest.

Standards

- *No uranium mining activity, or other activities associated with uranium mining, can occur in areas occupied by Zuni fleabane.
- *No motorized or recreational activity shall be allowed within occupied Zuni fleabane habitat.

iv.Riparian Dependent Species

The following needs for change related to riparian habitat management were identified during the assessment process:

- *"There is a need for the revised plan to provide updated management direction for the protection, maintenance, and restoration of riparian vegetation and channel morphology in the plan area."
- *"There is a need for the revised plan to provide direction on the sustainable management of groundwater, springs, wetlands, riparian areas, and perennial waters and their interconnections."
- *"There is a need for the revised plan to provide direction on establishing widths for riparian management zones around all lakes, perennial and intermittent streams, and open water wetlands."

The 2012 rule provides clear guidance on the Forest Service's responsibilities regarding riparian areas. "The plan must include plan components, including standards and guidelines, to maintain or restore the ecological integrity of riparian areas in the plan area, including plan components to maintain or restore structure, function, composition, and connectivity."43 Such components must take into account "aquatic and terrestrial habitats" and "ecological connectivity."44 Additionally, within the plan, the Forest Service must "establish widths for riparian management zones . . . , giving special attention to land and vegetation for approximately 100 feet from the edges of all perennial streams and lakes." And plan components

41 U.S. Fish and Wildlife Service. 2005. Zuni Fleabane 5-Year Review: Summary and Evaluation. New Mexico Ecological Services Field Office. Albuquerque, NM at pg. 4, available at http://www.fws.gov/southwest/es/arizona/Documents/SpeciesDocs/ZuniFleabane/Zuni%20fleabane%205-year%20review.pdf.

42 ld. at 10. 43 36 C.F.R. § 219.8(a)(3). 44 ld.

must be created to ensure that actions contributing to changes in temperature or chemical composition to water, blockage of waterways, or sediment deposits are not occurring within the riparian buffer zone.45

Riparian areas in the southwest are incredibly important for the maintenance of species diversity in the region, as riparian ecosystems are characterized by higher numbers of plant and animal species and highly dynamic conditions (Kuglerova et al. 2014: 74-76). They are also incredibly rare and, unfortunately, have been and will continue to be severely impacted by climate change. The documented effects of climate change on riparian ecosystems include water losses, contraction in the size of riparian ecosystems, susceptibility to invasion by nonnative plants, and disruption of natural wildlife communities.

The benefits of riparian buffers in grazing management are numerous and include: "stabilization of streambanks, the filtering of runoff, the reduction of peak floods, and the enhancement of habitat by controlling water temperatures and providing shelter to wildlife" (Agouridis et al. 2005: 598). While many studies and researchers have questioned the effectiveness of fixed-width boundaries in achieving the most desired function and structure for riparian ecosystems, the general premise of maintaining vegetation and impact buffers for sensitive riparian areas remains grounded in science and the most easily achievable management strategy given budget limitations and uncertainties related to best management practices (Richardson et al. 2012; Kuglerova et al. 2014). The Center believes that management approaches, especially in areas with numerous imperiled species and that have a high-likelihood to be significantly affected by climate change, should be managed following the precautionary principle. In other words, the Forest Service should impose management buffers around riparian areas, while implementing an adaptive management and monitoring plan that measures key riparian functions and wildlife trends to determine future course of action and even more effective management strategies.

Recommended Management Approach for Riparian Ecosystems:

The Forest Service should develop riparian ecosystem plan components that protect sensitive riparian areas through the use of a firm buffer in which restoration is prioritized and damaging activities, such as motorized use or livestock grazing, are prohibited. Riparian ecosystems are incredibly rare, host a diverse array of specialized species, and are highly at-risk from the impacts of climate change. Additionally, within the southwest, riparian areas are a popular destination for recreation. Given this reality, the Center recommends that the Forest Service maintain and mitigate impacts from existing recreational sites within riparian areas, while protecting species and habitat through the use of firm standards and guidelines for riparian resources forest-wide.

We also request that the Forest Service assess loss of riparian habitat that was originally on the Cibola National Forest, and develop plans to restore and recover riparian ecosystems in areas where such restoration is feasible. Riparian restoration that is proposed or undertaken should be based on the best available science. It is also critical that riparian areas that are restored or recovered as thereafter maintained in their natural state, meaning human stressors and habitat-disrupting activities are removed from the area.

Recommended Plan Components for Riparian Ecosystems:

Desired Conditions

*Stream ecosystems, riparian corridors and associated stream courses are functioning properly and are resilient to natural disturbances (e.g., flooding) and climate change, promote the natural movement of water, sediment and woody debris and provide habitat for native aquatic species

- *Dominant vegetation within riparian zones consists of existing, naturally regenerated, or seeded/planted native trees and shrubs suited to the soil and hydrology of the site.
- *Excessive sheet-rill and concentrated-flow erosion is not occurring.

Standards

- *A riparian buffer zone of 100 ft from all edges shall be imposed around all perennial and intermittent streams, springs, wetlands, and washes. Motorized activity, vegetation removal, trail- building, livestock grazing, and mining shall be prohibited unless necessary to protect human health and safety.
- *In riparian areas occupied by or suitable for habitation by federally-listed species or species of conservation concern, a 350 ft buffer shall be imposed. Motorized activity, vegetation removal, trail-building, livestock grazing, and mining shall be prohibited unless necessary to protect human health and safety.
- *Fence to exclude livestock from riparian areas when alternative means are not feasible.
- *New road construction within riparian areas shall be avoided.
- *Existing roads and trails within riparian areas should be maintained to minimize effects to natural waterflow and native vegetation communities.

Guidelines

- *Periodic removal of some forest products such as high value trees, medicinal herbs, nuts, and fruits is permitted provided the intended purpose is not compromised by the loss of vegetation or harvesting disturbance.
- *Maintain natural shade over water surfaces in fish bearing streams to the maximum extent possible, in keeping with reference conditions and native species capacity.
- *Riparian buffer areas have special management direction and are deemed generally unsuitable for timber production, minerals extraction, and motorized recreation.
- *Land management projects and plans that affect riparian areas must be preceded and informed by watershed analysis.
- *Management should retain all age classes of riparian vegetation species.

Objectives

- *The riparian forest buffer will be inspected periodically over the course of the plan to determine riparian vegetation and habitat conditions and as part of an ongoing monitoring program for riparian areas that includes triggers for changes in management.
- *Identify "key watersheds" that receive the highest priority protection from degradation.
- *During the first 3 years of plan implementation, identify priority riparian area based on relative degradation and need for restoration treatments and implement projects in priority riparian areas within 5 years of plan implementation.

IV.Grazing Management Information and Recommendations

Under the 2012 Rule, multiple uses, including livestock grazing, on the Cibola National Forest must be managed using standards and guidelines that apply integrated resource management.46 Integrated resource management means "multiple use management that recognizes the interdependence of ecological resources and is based on the need for integrated consideration of ecological, social, and economic factors."47 The factors considered in creating and evaluating plan components that apply this type of management must include species and habitat needs, dominant ecological processes and other system

drivers, and foreseeable risks, among other things.48 In other words, the Forest Service must take a holistic approach to managing livestock grazing, rather than merely continuing to allow current use or ignoring the very real risks that grazing poses to other forest resources.

The Forest Service must also analyze and identify the suitability of lands for livestock grazing as part of this plan revision process. The suitability of lands for grazing is based on the desired conditions identified for those lands.49 In addition to identifying desired conditions, the Forest Service needs to present, discuss, and evaluate the likely environmental impacts associated with the method it uses to determine suitability and capability of rangelands for livestock grazing. For a determination of livestock grazing capability to be legally sufficient it must meet NFMA, NEPA, and the APA by: (1) explaining the method used to change the capability determination from the old Plan; and (2) present information on which the capability determination is based. See W. Watersheds Project v. United States Forest. Serv., CV-05-189-E-BLW (D. ID., Feb. 7, 2006).

The ecological costs of livestock grazing exceed those of any other use of national forest land in the American Southwest. In this arid region subject to chronic and intensifying drought (Seager et al. 2007, Seager and Vecchi 2010, Williams et al. 2012), livestock grazing is the most widespread cause of species endangerment, lost soil productivity, and degradation of the human environment (Beschta et al. 2012, Fleischner 1994). Reduction of vegetation and ground cover by livestock reduces carbon and nitrogen stocks and holding capacity of public lands (Carter et al. 2011). Grazing destroys vegetation, displaces soil, and consumes enormous quantities of water to the detriment of native species and the ecosystems on which they depend (Belsky and Blumenthal 1997). It is important to note that one of the identified needs for change for this plan revision is the need to address invasive species on the Cibola - it will be impossible to do so without addressing and mitigating livestock contribution to the introduction and spread of invasive plants.

Livestock grazing also degrades water quality by increasing water temperatures in several ways. It elevates water temperature via the loss and suppression of riparian vegetation that provides stream shade increases (Kondolf et al. 1996; Kattelmann 1996; Beschta et al. 2013). Livestock grazing also widens channels due to bank damage from trampling and sedimentation, which also contributes to water temperature increases (Kondolf et al. 1996; Kattelmann 1996; Beschta et al. 2013), even in the absence of shade loss (Rhodes et al.1994). This is a serious impact because elevated water temperature adversely affects numerous aquatic species.

Recent studies into livestock grazing management have identified ways to reduce negative impacts, primarily through changes in agency management of forage resources and grazing to reflect best available science. Recommended management changes include: (1) eliminating areas with sensitive or high-erosion soils from capacity, suitability, or stocking rate calculations; (2) updating stocking rates based on conservative forage utilization rates (25-30 percent); (3) managing livestock by herding rather than fencing or water developments; (4) provide for rest, in some cases, several years, to allow for recovery of vegetation within allotments; (5) closure of areas with degraded soil or plant communities (Carter et al. 2011).

The Center acknowledges that the Forest Service operates under a multiple-use mandate and that livestock grazing is a legal use of public land. However, this does not mean that livestock grazing must take place on all lands of the Cibola National Forest, or that new and better restrictions on grazing practices cannot be implemented through this plan revision process. Given the significant impacts to grasslands, riparian ecosystems, and species from historical grazing and climate change, the Forest

Service must re-evaluate its current approach to livestock grazing on the Cibola National Forest and implement plan components to protect species and habitat. It is unlikely that rangelands in the planning area ever will return to historical norms that supported forage production capacity over the past century.

Updated management direction for grazing has also been identified as a need for change during the assessment process: "The revised plan needs to provide management direction to the livestock grazing program that incorporates adaptive management toward ecosystem-based desired conditions, with particular emphasis on management in times of drought or other extreme weather-related events."

Recommended Plan Components for Grazing Management:

Desired Conditions

- *The composition, structure, and function of vegetation ensure resistance and resilience to disturbances, are within or expeditiously moving toward historic conditions, that historically characteristic disturbances resume a natural role in the function of the ecosystem, and that risk of loss of key ecosystem components (e.g. native species and soil) to uncharacteristic disturbance is low.
- *Invasive species of plant and animals do not become established on the Cibola National Forest.
- *Native ungulate species are maintained in natural patterns of abundance and distribution
- *Natural fire regimes are functional throughout the Cibola National Forest, including on grasslands and within grazing allotments.
- *Soils and biological crusts are intact and contribute to functioning watersheds and ecosystems. Sedimentation and soil run-off is limited and subject only to natural processes.
- *Wolves and wolf dens are present throughout the landscape and contribute to overall species recovery.
- *Riparian vegetation is intact and dominated by native grasses, shrubs, and trees. Streambanks are functional, stream morphology is intact, downcutting and erosion is rare and caused only by natural processes.

Standards

- *Fencing is designed to allow for passage of native ungulates and to minimize to the maximum extent possible restrictions in movement by native wildlife species.
- *Forage utilization rates are maintained at or below 30%.
- *When negative impacts to native species are documented through monitoring, livestock shall be removed from the affected area.
- *Areas containing steep slopes (>30 percent), perennial or intermittent streams, springs, or wetlands shall be deemed unsuitable for livestock grazing.
- *Allotments or pastures with degraded vegetation or soil resources shall be closed and rested to allow for recovery.
- *Each allotment and pasture shall have an identified rest period as part of its long-term management.
- *Annual Operating Instructions (AOIs) for grazing allotments and permits shall acknowledge the potential presence of wolves and shall outline specific adaptive management strategies to prevent or minimize wolf depredations on livestock.
- *Livestock permittees may elect to remove pastures or allotments from grazing on a voluntary basis, such allotment or pastures shall be held vacant to allow for increased flexibility in range management.
- *Livestock grazing shall not be permitted within 300 ft. from riparian areas, wetlands, or seasonally present water, except as necessary to allow for continued use of state-issued water rights as allowed under state law.
- *Salting shall not occur within one quarter of a mile of water, riparian areas or stream channels.
- *Permittees with allotments with recurring conflicts will be given the opportunity to place livestock in a vacant allotment with decreased likelihood for conflicts with wolves as these allotments become available.

Guidelines

- *Damage to riparian vegetation, stream banks and channels should be prevented, not mitigated or rehabilitated.
- *Degraded riparian vegetation should be moved toward good condition during the life of the proposed term grazing permit, not over multiple decades.
- *Allotment and pasture management (as outlined in AOIs) shall identify livestock herding as the primary means of management livestock movement, rather than placement of fencing or water developments.

V.Water Management Information and Recommendations

The following needs for change related to water resources were identified during the assessment process:

- *"There is a need for the revised plan to provide direction to restore priority watersheds."
- *"There is a need for the revised plan to provide direction on the sustainable management of groundwater, springs, wetlands, riparian areas, and perennial waters and their interconnections."
- *"There is a need to update plan direction on providing a sustainable water supply for multiple uses (wildlife, livestock, recreation, mining) and public water supplies."

Historical and predicted changes in precipitation, water use and demands, and climate are important to consider when evaluating current and potential management direction and conditions for water resources on the Cibola National Forest. Williams and others (2012) noted that while average winter precipitation totals in the Southwest have not been exceptionally low in the recent past, average summer-fall evaporative demand since 2000 is the highest in the past 1,000 years. Forest drought stress over much of the past 13 years, including in 2011 and 2012, matched or exceeded the recorded "megadroughts" of the 13th and 16th centuries. The only other 13-year periods when similar conditions occurred with such frequencies in the past 1,000 years were during the megadroughts themselves. Model projections indicate that megadrought-level stresses on water availability and vegetation production will be regularly exceeded by the mid-21st century, and even the wettest and coolest years of the late-21st century will be more severe than the driest, warmest years of the past millennium (Williams et al. 2012).

Recommended Plan Components for Water Resources:

Desired Conditions

- *Aquatic ecosystems are high-functioning and support an abundance of native species.
- *Rivers and streams provide habitat connectivity and corridors for all native species.
- *River and streams are free of pollution and meet all state and federal water quality standards.

Standards

- *New road construction in riparian buffer zones, stream, washes, meadows and wetlands shall be avoided.
- *Water quality, quantity, and habitat features at natural springs and seeps shall be protected or enhanced.
- *Management activities shall not impair soil moisture recharge at outflows of natural water sources. Objectives
- *Assess risks and conditions of all watersheds during the first year of plan implementation and create a 10 year plan to restore watersheds throughout the forest.
- *Identify, catalogue and evaluate all water rights held within the Cibola National Forest. In cases where the right is no longer in use, seek water rights from the state for purposes of securing federally held rights to water resources.

VI. Vegetation Management Information and Recommendations

The following needs for change related to vegetation management were identified during the assessment process:

*"There is a need for the revised plan to provide direction for achieving sustainability, resiliency, and for minimizing risks to vegetation and its composition and structure (including snags and downed woody material). This includes restoring natural disturbance cycles (fire, insects, disease) where appropriate."

*There is a need for the revised plan to provide plan direction for restoration treatments for those Geographic Areas and Ecological Response Units (ERUs - vegetation types) that are most outside of the natural range of variability while considering capability of local infrastructure, contractors, and markets.

*A need "to include plan direction addressing potential climate change impacts such as fire size severity, flooding, and changes in water resources and vegetation (composition and structure)."

*A need "for the revised plan to provide direction for an integrated resource approach to prescribed fire activities, and to address fuel accumulations in the Wildland Urban Interface (WUI)."

The 2012 Rule mandates that the Forest Service "identify lands within the plan area as not suited for timber production if . . . [it] would not be compatible with the achievement of desired conditions and objectives established by the plan for those lands."50 In the Cibola National Forest, conditions are such that logging should only be allowed in those rare instances where it is needed "to protect other multiple use values[, including] improving wildlife or fish habitat, thinning to reduce fire risk, or restoring meadow or savanna ecosystems where trees have invaded."51 Any timber suitability analysis or logging allowances made within this plan revision process must be documented and supported by best available science, including a detailed explanation of the method used to calculate such suitability.

Forest restoration work with the intent to restore natural disturbance regimes, including fire, should be the overall vegetation management strategy utilized by the Forest Service in the Cibola National Forest. Such restoration work should be completed under standards and guidelines designed to protect and enhance wildlife species and habitat. Under the 2012 Rule, the forest plan must provide "information reflecting proposed and possible actions that may occur on the plan area," including "the proportion of probable methods of forest vegetation management practices expected to be used."52 The Forest Service must also

```
50 Id. § 219.11(a).
51 Id § 219.11(c).
52 Id. § 219.7(f)(iv).
```

incorporate ecosystem-level standards and guidelines into this plan, which should be used to guide forest restoration work.

According to the assessment, "[v]egetation of all ERUs on the Cibola is at risk in all Geographic Areas."53 In nearly all cases, disruption of natural fire regimes and loss of large trees were identified as a primary cause of departure from reference conditions for ERUs.54 In the cases of tree-dominate ecosystem types, the Assessment identifies the following as the primary reason for reference condition departure: "historical timber harvest . . . , active fire suppression . . . , passive fire suppression (roads, excessive removal of fine fuels by improper grazing, community development, etc.)."55 In particular, Mixed

Conifer-Frequent Fire, Mixed Conifer with Aspen, Ponderosa Pine Forest, and Spruce-Fir ecosystems within the Cibola have all seen significant and devastating decreases in large, old trees56 - one of the primary functional components for these ecosystems.

Additionally, besides directly leading to a decrease in fire and, therefore, disruption of all natural fire regimes, livestock grazing has led to a significant degradation of native grasslands. According to the Assessment, reference conditions in Colorado Plateau/Great Basin Grassland ecosystem types in the Cibola National Forest were characterized by 70% high seral grass cover (ungrazed), 30% low-mid seral cover, and 0% of low seral cover.57 Currently, however, 75% of grass cover is characterized as either low- mid or low seral, while only 25% is high seral.58 These trends mirror those for Montane/Subalpine Grasslands and Semi-Desert Grassland ecosystems, the former also being significantly more at-risk for tree invasion as well. These significant changes have had the direct result of reducing cover for prey- species, decreasing habitat quality and quantity for native ungulates, and disrupting fire patterns and return intervals. There can be no doubt that this grassland habitat requires restoration and that a key component of such restoration must be a reduction in livestock grazing and associated AUMs, rest and closure of allotments and pastures, and a re-evaluation of grazing capacity and suitability throughout the Cibola.

Ultimately, fire regimes and forest structure must be restored in an integrated way. Climate change, landscape fragmentation, and presence of invasive species often preclude forest ecosystems from realizing settlement-era structural or compositional patterns even with active restoration that intends to re- create an historic range of variability (HRV) in forest structure, composition or disturbance regime (Harsch et al. 2009, Noss et al. 2006). Johnson and Duncan (2007) proposed updating the HRV concept to a "future range of variability" that accounts for inevitable ecological change as disturbance regimes and vegetation pattern track climate. Understanding how forests adapt to climate over longer timescales than are commonly used in an HRV-focused approach can inform management strategies that support adaptation to uncertain future conditions imposed by changes in climate and landscape pattern (Choi et al. 2008, Millar et al. 2007).

In the case of tree-dominated ecosystems like those mentioned above, conservation of large trees is fundamentally important to restoration. Large ponderosa pine trees possess autecological characteristics such as relatively thick bark and insulated buds that promote resistance to heat injury (Weaver 1951). Mature ponderosa pines have a high capacity to survive and recover from crown scorch (McCune 1988). Thus, the existence of large tree structure enhances forest ecosystem resilience to wildland fire (Arno 2000, Pollett and Omi 2002). Moreover, large trees are the most difficult of all elements of forest

53 Cibola National Forest Assessment, vol. I at 219.54 Id. at 23-27.55 Id. at 30.56 Id. at 32, 33, 38, and 39.57 Id. at 42.58 Id.

structure to replace once they are removed (Agee and Skinner 2005). This scientific background is underscores the need to approach forest restoration with the intent of retaining large, old trees, while reintroducing fire and maintaining heterogeneity to benefit the complete host of species that rely on our forested ecosystems.

For ponderosa pine and dry mixed conifer forests, this means focusing on the landscape-scale reintroduction of fire as the primary self-sustaining regulatory mechanism that will naturally promote adaptation and resilience to unplanned fires and the effects of climate change-and then scaling down to coordinated project-level actions that accomplish landscape-level objectives.

In the case of grasslands, including those invaded by pinyon, juniper, or other woody species, fire should also be the primary restoration tool used. Areas restored with fire have far more productive understories and avoid a problem created by chaining whereby large old trees are killed but younger, smaller trees remain to resprout, and fire is cheaper (Aro 1971). Moving forward, the Forest Service should rely on natural disturbances to facilitate functioning ecosystems. "Periodic drought and fire are important processes for limiting woody encroachment into grasslands" (Joyce and Birdsey 2000: 21).

Recommended Plan Components for Vegetation Management

Desired Conditions

- *All ERUs, ecosystems, and habitat types are functional and resilient to long-term changes in climate and water availability.
- *Old growth occurs throughout the landscape, generally in small areas as individual old growth components, or as clumps of old growth.
- *Fire is recognized as a natural process in fire-adapted ecosystems and is used to achieve objectives for other resources.
- *Natural stressors and disturbances are managed to meet restoration objectives.
- *Ponderosa pine stands should include a mosaic of tree patches of variable ages, sizes and densities, a robust and diverse herbaceous understory, and rare stand-replacing fires generally isolated to small patches (i.e., occasional torching).

Standards

- *Utilize and enhance existing forest structure by retaining the largest trees and groups of larger trees with interlocking crowns. Larger diameter trees, in VSS 4, 5, and 6 should be retained to replace the structure and function of old growth trees that were removed by logging.
- *Retain co-dominants in the larger diameter groups present on a site to maintain greater canopy retention with the goal of creating groups that function more like pre-disturbance groups.
- *When creating openings focus on the removal of small, young trees (12" dbh) from the spaces and openings between groups.
- *Identify and retain areas that would be best left unthinned as wildlife cover areas and for travel corridors.
- *Retain trees with nests in them, and surrounding trees providing associated habitat, wind protection or shading.
- *Preserve all snags.
- *Downed logs with a diameter greater than 10" should be preserved.
- *Use prescribed fire and management of natural ignitions to reduce ground fuels and to reintroduce fire to the ecosystem.
- *Defer livestock grazing after the initial fire treatment to allow for understory recovery and change grazing management to allow for function of natural processes.
- *Decrease road densities to enhance stand integrity.
- *Chaining is not used as a restoration tool.

Objective

*A fire management plan is developed which relies on a landscape assessment of where natural fires can acceptably and beneficially burn. Fire is managed to accomplish multiple objectives- including community protection, wildlife habitat protection, and the restoration of ecological processes.

VII.Recreation and Roads Information and Recommendations

The substantive requirements of the 2012 Rule require the Forest Service to comprehensively address the road system in this plan revision. Given the significant aggregate impacts of that system on landscape connectivity, ecological integrity, water quality, species viability and diversity, and other forest resources and ecosystem services, the Forest Service cannot satisfy the rule's substantive requirements without providing management direction for transportation infrastructure. As described above, plans must provide standards and guidelines to maintain and restore ecological integrity, landscape connectivity, water quality, and species diversity.59 Those

requirements simply cannot be met absent integrated plan components directed at making the road system considerably more sustainable and resilient to climate change stressors. The Forest Service's final directives on infrastructure recognize this: "[t]he central consideration in land management planning for infrastructure is that the integrated desired conditions and other plan components set a framework for the sustainable management of the plan area's infrastructure and mitigation of adverse impacts."60 To that end, plan components should "reflect the extent of infrastructure that is needed to achieve the desired conditions and objectives of the plan" and "provide for a realistic desired infrastructure that is sustainable and can be managed in accord with other plan components including those for ecological sustainability."61

The revised plan is the logical and appropriate place to establish a framework for management of the forest road system. Plans "provide[] a framework for integrated resource management and for guiding project and activity decisionmaking."62 Plans allow the Forest Service to comprehensively evaluate the road system in the context of other aspects of forest management, such as restoration, protection and utilization, and fiscal realities, and to integrate management direction accordingly. With frequent turnover in decision-making positions at the forest level, a plan-level management framework for the road system and transportation infrastructure is particularly critical. Moreover, with climate change anticipated to necessitate forest-wide upgrades and reconfigurations of transportation infrastructure, it is especially important that plans provide direction for identifying and achieving an environmentally and fiscally sustainable road system under future climate scenarios.

A robust NEPA analysis of the forest road system and its environmental and social impacts is also critical because they constitute "major Federal actions significantly affecting the quality of the human environment," forest plan revisions require preparation of an environmental impact statement (EIS) under

59 36 C.F.R. § 219.8(a).

60 Forest Service Handbook (FSH) 1909.12, ch. 20, § 23.23l.

61 Id. § 23.23I(1)(b); see also id. § 23.23I(2)(a) (desired condition for roads "should describe a basic framework for an appropriately sized and sustainable transportation system that can meet [identified access and other] needs").\

62 36 C.F.R. § 219.2(b)(1); see also id. § 215(e) (site-specific implementation projects, including travel management

plans, must be consistent with plan components); see id. § 219.1(f) ("Plans must comply with all applicable laws and regulations ", including the Clean Water Act, Clean Air Act, Endangered Species Act, and other federal environmental laws relevant to the road system and its environmental impacts.

NEPA.63 Management of the forest road system and its significant environmental impacts on a range of forest resources undoubtedly qualifies as a significant issue that must be analyzed in the plan revision EIS.64

Importantly, adequate analysis of the forest road system cannot be provided in a piecemeal fashion under other, individual resource topics in the EIS. That approach would preclude comprehensive analysis of the significant impacts associated with the road system and could result in fragmented and conflicting management direction that fails to satisfy the substantive mandates of the 2012 Planning Rule and subpart A of the Travel Management Rule.

a.Minimum Road System

National forests provide a range of significant environmental and societal benefits, including clean air and water, habitat for myriad wildlife species, and outdoor recreation opportunities for millions of visitors and local residents

each year.65 The Forest Service's extensive and decaying road system, however, poses a principle threat to the future ability of the national forests to provide critical environmental, ecosystem, and recreation services. Collectively, the national forests contain over 370,000 miles of system roads (excluding tens of thousands of additional miles of unclassified, non-system, temporary, and user-created roads). That is nearly eight times the length of the entire U.S. Interstate Highway System. This road system is primarily a byproduct of the era of big timber; as such, it often is convoluted, unmanageable, and ineffective at meeting 21st-century transportation needs. Much of the system is also in a state of serious disrepair: as of 2013, the national forest road system had a 3.2 billion dollar maintenance backlog.66

The CNF is no exception, with 3,129 miles of system roads requiring over \$3.9 million in total annual maintenance costs.67 Yet the forest's average road maintenance budget in recent years covers only about 19% of those costs, resulting a significant backlog of deferred maintenance needs. While the Forest Assessment Report states that extent of deferred maintenance needs "is not accurately known," it does identify "the progressive decline in appropriated funding for road maintenance" as the most significant trend affecting the condition of the transportation system and acknowledges that that trend "is not expected to change significantly for the better in the foreseeable future."68 Accordingly, the Forest Assessment Report concludes that the current transportation system is not sustainable and that "difficult decisions will have to eventually be made to bring the maintenance needs of the transportation system in line with available funding and to ensure this balance is maintained."69

63 42 U.S.C. § 4332(2)(C); 36 C.F.R. § 219.5(a)(2)(i). The EIS must analyze in depth all "significant issues related to [the plan revision]." 40 C.F.R. § 1501.7; see also id. § 1502.1 (an EIS "shall provide full and fair discussion of significant environmental impacts" and "shall focus on significant environmental issues and alternatives").

64 NEPA analysis as part of a previous travel management planning process under subpart B does not satisfy the Forest Service's duty to comprehensively analyze the impacts of its road system in the EIS for the plan revision. As explained above, the purpose of the TMP is to designate existing roads and trails available for offroad vehicle use,

not to identify and provide a framework for a sustainable road system.

65 See generally 36 C.F.R. § 219.1(c) ("range of social, economic, and ecological benefits [of National Forests] . . . include clean air and water; habitat for fish, wildlife, and plant communities; and opportunities for recreational spiritual, educational, and cultural benefits"); 66 Fed. Reg. 3244, 3245-47 (Jan. 12, 2001) (Preamble to Roadless Area Conservation Rule describing key ecosystem and other services of roadless National Forest lands). 66 USDA, Forest Service, National Forest System Statistics FY 2013, available at

http://www.fs.fed.us/publications/statistics/nfs-brochure-2013.pdf.

67 Cibola National Forest Assessment, vol. II, p. 214.

68 Cibola National Forest Assessment, vol. II, pp. 214-15.

69 Cibola National Forest Assessment, vol. II, p. 215.

Erosion, compaction, and other alterations in forest geomorphology and hydrology associated with roads seriously impair water quality and aquatic species viability. Roads disturb and fragment wildlife habitat, altering species distribution, interfering with critical life functions such as feeding, breeding, and nesting, and resulting in loss of biodiversity. Roads also facilitate increased human intrusion into sensitive areas, resulting in poaching of rare plants and animals, human-ignited wildfires, introduction of exotic species, and damage to archaeological resources.

Climate change intensifies the adverse impacts associated with roads. For example, as the warming climate alters species distribution and forces wildlife migration, landscape connectivity becomes even more critical to species survival and ecosystem resilience.70 Many National Forest roads, however, were not designed to any

engineering standard, making them particularly vulnerable to these climate alterations. And even those designed for storms and water flows typical of past decades may fail under future weather scenarios, further exacerbating adverse ecological impacts, public safety concerns, and maintenance needs.71

Road-related degradation of watersheds and riparian areas on the CNF is also significant, with the assessment identifying road-stream crossings and roads located in riparian areas as the two most significant stressors on forest watershed health.72 "Riparian habitats are among the most critical elements of biodiversity within the landscape and they provide key ecosystem services available from no other resource. . . . [W]here riparian areas have degraded or been lost, these services are missing or at risk."73 Yet the Forest Assessment Report finds that "[m]ost riparian areas on the Cibola are currently at risk, and completely missing in some places . . . largely [as] a function of legacy issues, including roads (authorized or otherwise)."74 And according to the "roads and trails" indicator of the Forest Service's Watershed Condition Framework (WCF), 106 of the CNF's 166 watersheds are functioning in a poor/impaired condition due to road-related impacts, with another 36 functioning in a fair/at-risk condition due to those impacts.75 Overall, the assessment concludes that "[m]ost of the water resources on the Cibola are at risk" due in significant part to roads-related impacts such as sedimentation, increased runoff, loss and degradation of aquatic habitat, impairment of riparian areas, wetlands, and soil conditions, and increases in invasive species.76

b.Motorized Travel Only on Designated Roads and Trails

Subparts B and C of the travel management rule at 36 C.F.R. 212 require that motorized travel occur only on a designated system of routes and areas in the summer and winter, respectively. It also establishes two exceptions to the ban on cross-country driving in the summer time; motorized vehicles can travel a defined limited distance off specific route segments for the purposes of dispersed camping and game retrieval when specified on the map.77 Forest Service policy instructs forests to use the exceptions sparingly.78

70 See USDA, Forest Service, National Roadmap for Responding to Climate Change, at 26 (2011), available at http://www.fs.fed.us/climatechange/pdf/Roadmapfinal.pdf (recognizing importance of reducing fragmentation and increasing connectivity to facilitate climate change adaptation).

71 See USDA, Forest Service, Water, Climate Change, and Forests: Watershed Stewardship for a Changing Climate, PNW-GTR-812, at 72 (June 2010), available at http://www.fs.fed.us/pnw/pubs/pnw_gtr812.pdf.

72 Cibola National Forest Assessment, vol. I, p. 128, Fig. 41.

73 Cibola National Forest Assessment, vol. I, pp. 119-20.

74 Cibola National Forest Assessment, vol. I, p. 123.

75 Cibola National Forest Assessment, vol. I, p. 130, Figure 43.

76 Cibola National Forest Assessment, vol. I, pp. 125-27, 140.

77 36 C.F.R. § 212.51(b). ("In designating routes, the responsible official may include in the designation the limited use of motor vehicles within a specified distance of certain forest roads or trails where motor vehicle use is allowed,

Executive Orders 11989 and 11644 establish that off-road vehicle trails and areas must be located to minimize damage to forest resources and existing and potential recreation uses.79 The Executive Orders establish specific criteria for minimization, which are echoed in the travel management rule. Specifically, the Executive Orders require that when designating areas or trails available for off-road vehicle use, agencies must locate them to:

(1)minimize damage to soil, watershed, vegetation, or other resources of the public lands;

(2)minimize harassment of wildlife or significant disruption of wildlife habitats; and

(3)minimize conflicts between off-road vehicle use and other existing or proposed recreational uses of the same or neighboring public lands.80

The Executive Orders also include protective mechanisms designed to ensure that off-road vehicle designations are not impairing the protection of public lands. Specifically, they create a Forest Service duty to 1) periodically monitor the effects of off-road vehicle use, and based on the data amend or rescind the off-road vehicle designations81; and 2) to immediately close areas and trails to off-road vehicle use if the Forest Service determines that the use of off-road vehicles "will cause or is causing considerable adverse effects on the soil, vegetation, wildlife, wildlife habitat or cultural or historic resources of particular areas or trails of the public lands... until such time as he determines that such adverse effects have been eliminated and that measures have been implemented to prevent future recurrence."82

Although travel management for the most part is decided in conforming project-level plans and decisions, land management plans should reinforce the travel management rule's provisions and requirements in standards, and provide the necessary detail on how the Forest Service will carry out and comply with the Executive Order provisions. Additionally, to the degree land management plans allocate areas and routes for motorized use, these allocations are subject to the minimization criteria established in the Executive Orders.

The planning rule requires the plan to include plan components, including standard and guidelines, to provide for...[s]ustainable recreation, including sustainable....opportunities, and access..."83 Sustainable opportunities are those that will not erode ecological integrity as well as support social and economic benefits for the present and future generations. The plan must have plan components, including standards and guidelines, that ensure that opportunities are compatible with (and ideally enhance) the desired settings and recreational niche. In addition, to the extent that the provision or sustainable opportunities

and if appropriate within specified time periods, solely for the purposes of dispersed camping or retrieval of a downed big game animal by an individual who has legally taken that animal."

78 FSM 7703.11(4). This issue has been addressed in a recent appeal decision as well: "[A] broad designation allowing dispersed camping along all or most designated routes is not consistent with long-term objectives for

management. Direction from the Chief of the Forest Service indicates that the allowance of dispersed camping by general designation along roads and trails should be used sparingly." (Reviewing Officer Recommendation, Sawtooth National Forest, Travel Plan Revision, Appeals #08-04-14-0035-A215, #08-04-14-0038-A215, and #08-04-14-0039-A215 at 17; see also accompanying Appeal Decision at 1, adopting recommendation and directing Sawtooth National Forest to modify decision ("Include designations for motor vehicle use for dispersed camping on the initial motor vehicle use map only to the extent that they reflect conditions where motor vehicle use for dispersed camping is practicable without causing unacceptable resource damage.").

79 Exec. Order No. 11,644, 37 Fed. Reg. 2877 (Feb. 8, 1972), as amended by Exec. Order No. 11,989, 42 Fed.

26,959 (May 24, 1977). 80 ld. § 3(a). 81 ld. § 8.

82 ld. § 9

83 36 C.F.R. § 219.10(b)(1)(i)

rely on infrastructure such as roads, trails, bathrooms, trailheads, parking lots, and picnic areas, the plan must contain standards and guidelines that ensures infrastructure is sited appropriately (e.g., maintain ecological integrity and viewsheds, and enable consistent flow of benefits into the future), compatible with the desired setting, and capable of being adequately maintained with predicted capacities, including implementing best management practices for water quality. Practically, this means that recreation infrastructure should be the

minimum necessary to maintain and enhance the desired settings and recreation objectives while not compromising ecological integrity.

c.Sustainable Recreation

In providing direction for the siting and management of off-road vehicle use (summer and winter), the plan components must ensure compliance with Executive Orders 11989 and 11644.84 Specifically, the plan must include standards that establish the following:

*The Forest Service will apply the Executive Order minimization criteria to projects that propose to create or modify off-road vehicle area or trail designations. Application of the criteria requires the Forest Service to demonstrate how each area and trail as well as the aggregate system minimizes - not just considers - impacts to forest resources and other existing and projected recreation uses. The aggregate system includes cross-country driving zones for dispersed camping or game retrieval enabled under the travel management rule.

*The Forest Service will create and carry out a strategy for monitoring the impacts of off-road vehicle use on Forest Service-administered lands, and make the monitoring results available to the public including recommendations for amendments or rescissions of off-road vehicle designations. The strategy will include indicators that trigger action under Section 9 of the Executive Order.85 The strategy, if relevant, should also address monitoring, trigger points, and actions related to the impacts that result from cross-country driving for dispersed camping or game retrieval enabled under the travel management rule.

To the extent that motorized recreation occurs on system roads, plan components must ensure that such access and use is sustainable. To that end, it makes sense to extend the Executive Order provisions to include motorized recreation road designations. Specifically, standards and guideline should ensure that: all motorized designations minimize impacts86; are periodically monitored, reviewed, and modified as needed; and, are modified immediately when considerable adverse damage is occurring.

Lastly, the plan should have standards and guidelines that guide how, when, and if exceptions to the cross-country driving prohibitions for dispersed camping and game retrieval will be allowed. The direction should be compliant with the travel management rule and applicable policy directives.

84 Exec. Order No. 11,644, 37 Fed. Reg. 2877 (Feb. 8, 1972), as amended by Exec. Order No. 11,989, 42 Fed. Reg.

26,959 (May 24, 1977).

85 Section 9 requires that when the agency determines that the use of off-road vehicles will cause or is causing considerable adverse effects on the soil, vegetation, wildlife, wildlife habitat or cultural or historic resources of particular areas or trails of the public lands, it must immediately close such areas or trails to the type of off-road vehicle causing such effects, until such time as he determines that such adverse effects have been eliminated and that measures have been implemented to prevent future recurrence.

86 This reinforces the provision at 36 C.F.R. § 212.5(b)(1) that requires the Forest Service to identify a minimum road system ("forests must first "identify the minimum road system needed for safe and efficient travel and for administration, utilization, and protection of National Forest System lands.") See Section VI of these comments for a more in-depth discussion of this requirement.

Recommended Management Approach for Motorized Recreation and Road and Trail Network

To integrate the approaches described above and satisfy the substantive mandates of the 2012 Planning Rule and subpart A, we recommend the following plan components and elements, which are supported by best

available science, as the building blocks of a framework for sustainable management of forest roads and transportation infrastructure:

*Clearly and comprehensively articulate all regulatory requirements applicable to transportation infrastructure.

This could be accomplished in a background section that explains the requirements of subpart A, related implementing memoranda, and other regulatory requirements related to roads management (e.g., U.S. Fish & Decies Act requirements; requirements under Executive Order and associated adaptation plans; applicable best management practices; Roadless Area Conservation Rule requirements; etc.). The explanation of subpart A must make clear that the Forest Service (if it has not already) is required to complete a science-based analysis to identify a minimum road system and unneeded roads for decommissioning or conversion to other uses, and to implement those findings. Ideally, plan components will provide direction for expeditiously identifying and implementing the minimum road system through a subsequent NEPA process and future project-level actions, as described below.

*Desired Future Condition includes achievement and maintenance of an appropriately sized and environmentally and fiscally sustainable minimum road system.

The Forest Service's current roads management policy framework is generally aimed at shrinking the agency's vast and decaying road system and its host of adverse environmental and social impacts.

Accordingly, the desired future condition for transportation infrastructure should include a well-maintained system of needed roads that is fiscally and environmentally sustainable and provides for safe and consistent access for the utilization and protection of the forest. That forest road system is designed and maintained to withstand future storm events associated with climate change and to prioritize passenger vehicle access to major forest attractions. The road system reflects long-term funding expectations. Unneeded roads, including temporary and non-system roads, are decommissioned and reclaimed as soon as practicable to reduce environmental and fiscal costs.

Reclamation efforts are prioritized in roadless and other ecologically sensitive areas to enhance ecological integrity and connectivity and to facilitate climate change adaptation. The system meets density standards, based on the best available science, for all motorized routes in important watersheds and wildlife habitat, migratory corridors, and general forest matrix, and for relevant threatened and endangered species and species of conservation concern. Road construction, reconstruction, decommissioning, and maintenance activities are designed to minimize adverse environmental impacts. Passenger vehicle roads are maintained to standard to ensure reliable access to popular developed recreation sites.

- *Objectives provide a concise, measurable, and time-specific statement of a desired rate of progress towards achieving a sustainable minimum road system.
- 1. Over the life of the plan, decommission all roads identified as likely not needed for future use in the TAP. Within 10 years of plan approval, decommission high-priority, unneeded roads with the most benefit in achieving an ecologically and fiscally sustainable

transportation network (e.g., roads posing a high risk to forest resources, roads in inventoried roadless areas and other ecologically sensitive areas, etc.).

- 2. Over the life of the plan, implement the minimum road system.
- 3.Within 10 years of plan approval, address all roads within at-risk and impaired watersheds according to the WCF roads and trails indicator, and within watersheds contributing to sediment or temperature impairment of under section 303(d) of the Clean Water Act.

- *Standards ensure that roads do not impair ecological integrity and otherwise satisfy the substantive requirements of the 2012 Planning Rule and subpart A.
- 1.To ensure ecological integrity and species viability, establish density standards based on the best available science for all motorized routes:
- a.In important watersheds, wildlife habitat, migratory corridors, and general forest matrix; and
- b.For relevant species or resources present on the forest, including but not limited to threatened and endangered species and species of conservation concern.
- 2. Within 3 years of plan adoption, the forest shall identify its minimum road system and an implementation strategy for achieving that system that is consistent with forest plan direction and relevant regulatory requirements.
- 3. The forest shall make annual progress toward achieving the minimum road system and motorized route density standards, including but not limited to decommissioning 5% of roads identified as unneeded each year.
- 4. The forest shall identify and update as necessary its road management objectives for each system road and trail.
- 5. With respect to temporary roads, the forest shall:
- a.Within 5 years of plan approval, establish a publicly available system for tracking temporary roads that includes but is not limited to the following information: road location, purpose for road construction, the project-specific plan required below, year of road construction, and projected date by which the road will be decommissioned. Within 10 years of plan approval, all temporary roads will be reflected in the tracking system.
- b."No temporary road shall be constructed . . . prior to the development of a project-specific plan that defines how the road shall be managed and constructed. The plan must define the road design, who are responsible parties and their roles in construction, maintenance and decommissioning, the funding source, a schedule for construction, maintenance and decommissioning, the method(s) for
- decommissioning, and post-decommissioning monitoring requirements for determining decommissioning success."87
- c.All temporary roads will be closed and rehabilitated within a reasonably short time following completion of the use of the road.
- d. Over the life of the plan, all unaddressed temporary roads will be decommissioned.
- 6.All roads, including temporary roads, will comply with applicable and identified Forest Service best management practices for water management.
- 7. With respect to riparian management zones, the forest shall:
- a. Establish widths for riparian management zones around all lakes, springs, perennial and intermittent streams, and open-water wetlands.
- b.Ensure that all management practices and project-level decisions with road- related elements in riparian management zones do not cause detrimental changes in water quality or fish habitat.
- 8. Watershed restoration action plans address road-related impacts identified in the TAP.
- *Guidelines are designed to achieve a sustainable minimum road system.
- 1.Project-level decisions with road-related elements implement TAP recommendations and advance implementation of the minimum road system and motorized route density standards.

- 2.Routes identified for decommissioning through the TAP or other processes will be closed, decommissioned, and reclaimed to a stable and more natural condition as soon as practicable.
- 3. Prioritize road decommissioning to enhance landscape connectivity and ecological integrity based on:
- a. Effectiveness in reducing fragmentation, connecting un-roaded and lightly-roaded areas, and improving stream segments, with a focus on inventoried roadless areas, important watersheds, and other sensitive ecological and conservation areas and corridors:
- b.Benefit to species and habitats;
- c.Addressing impaired or at-risk watersheds;
- d.Achieving motorized route density standards; and
- e.Enhancement of visitor experiences.
- 4. Prioritize maintenance of needed routes based on:
- a. Storm-proofing needs and opportunities (e.g., relocating roads away from water bodies, resizing or removing culverts, etc.);
- 87 San Juan National Forest Land and Resource Management Plan, Standard 2.13.22, p. 101.
- b.Reducing landscape-scale fragmentation and enabling landscape-scale processes;
- c.Restoring aquatic and terrestrial habitats and habitat connections; and d.Increasing resilience.

VIII.Conclusion

In summary, the Center recommends the Forest Service take a species and habitat protection and restoration approach within the revised Cibola National Forest land and resource management plan. This includes incorporating both ecosystem-level and species-specific planning components, and inclusion of specific and binding standards and guidelines for all management actions. There are numerous problems and negative impacts occurring due to current management, as well as significant progress and knowledge that has been made in the field of natural resource, wildlife, and forest management since the last plan was developed. The Forest Service has an incredible opportunity to create a more sustainable, science- based, and restoration-focused plan, and we look forward to working with you to do so.

Sincerely,

Katherine Davis, Public Lands Campaigner Center for Biological Diversity P.O. Box 710 Tucson, AZ 85702 kdavis@biologicaldiversity.org

Scientific References

Agee, James K., and Carl N. Skinner. "Basic principles of forest fuel reduction treatments." Forest ecology and management 211.1 (2005): 83-96. Available at:

http://digitalcommons.usu.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1142&context=barkbeetles.

Agouridis, Carmen T., Stephen R. Workman, Richard C. Warner, and Gregory D. Jennings. 2005. Livestock grazing management impacts on stream water quality: a review. Journal of the American Water Resources

Association (June): 591-606.

Arno, Stephen F. "Fire in western forest ecosystems." (2000): 97. Available at: http://digitalcommons.usu.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1040&context=barkbeetles.

Aro, Richard S. "Evaluation of pinyon-juniper conversion to grassland." Journal of Range Management (1971): 188-197. Available at: https://journals.uair.arizona.edu/index.php/jrm/article/download/5921/5531. Beschta, R.L., D.L. Donahue, D.A. DellaSala, J.J. Rhodes, J.R. Karr, M.H. O'Brien, T.L. Fleischner and C.D. Williams. 2012. Adapting to climate change on western public lands: addressing the ecological effects of domestic, wild, and feral ungulates. Environmental Management 52 (Nov.). DOI: 10.1007/s00267-012-9964-9. Available at: http://ir.library.oregonstate.edu/xmlui/bitstream/handle/1957/34707/BeschtaRobertFESClimateUngulate%20Manuscript.pdf?sequence=1.

Beschta R. L ,Donahue D.L. DellaSala D.A, Rhodes J.J., Karr J.R. O'BrienM. H., Fleischner M. and Williams C.D 2013. Adapting to Climate Change on Western Public Lands: Addressing the Ecological Effects of Domestic, Wild, and Feral Ungulates. Environmental Management 51:474- 491.

Breck, S.W., B.M. Kluever, M. Panasci, J. Oakleaf, T. Johnson, W. Ballard, L. Howery, D.L. Bergman. 2011. Domestic calf mortality and producer detection rates in the Mexican wolf recovery area: implications for livestock management and carnivore compensation schemes. Biological Conservation, 144:930-936
Brusca, Richard C., et al. Dramatic response to climate change in the Southwest: Robert Whittaker's 1963
Arizona Mountain plant transect revisited. Ecology and evolution 3.10 (2013): 3307-3319.

Carroll, Carlos, et al. Defining recovery goals and strategies for endangered species: the wolf as a case study. BioScience 56.1 (2006): 25-37.

Carter, John, Julie Chard, and Brandon Chard. "Moderating Livestock Grazing Effects on Plant Productivity, Nitrogen and Carbon Storage." Natural Resources and Environmental Issues 17.1 (2011): 23. Available at: http://digitalcommons.usu.edu/cgi/viewcontent.cgi?article=1768&context=nrei.

Choi, Y.D., Temperton, V.M., Allen, E.B., Grootjans, A.P., Halassy, M., Hobbs, R.J., Naeth, M.A., Torok, K., 2008. Ecological restoration for future sustainability in a changing environment. Ecoscience 15, 53-64

Fleischner, Thomas L. "Ecological costs of livestock grazing in western North America." Conservation Biology 8.3 (1994): 629-644.

Ganey, Joseph L., et al. "Relative abundance of small mammals in nest core areas and burned wintering areas of Mexican Spotted Owls in the Sacramento Mountains, New Mexico." The Wilson Journal of Ornithology 126.1 (2014): 47-52. (referred to as Ganey et al. 2014, Ornithology)

Ganey, Joseph L., et al. "Use of Protected Activity Centers by Mexican Spotted Owls in the Sacramento Mountains, New Mexico." Journal of Raptor Research 48.3 (2014): 210-218. (referred to as Ganey et al. 2014, Raptor).

Garfin, G., A. Jardine, R. Merideth, M. Black, and S. LeRoy, eds. 2013. Assessment of Climate Change in the Southwest United States: A Report Prepared for the National Climate Assessment. A report by the Southwest Climate Alliance. Washington, DC: Island Press.

Gillson, Lindsey, et al. "Accommodating climate change contingencies in conservation strategy." Trends in ecology & (2013): 135-142.

Harper, E.K., W.J. Paul, L.D. Mech, and S. Weisberg. 2008. Effectiveness of lethal, directed wolf- depredation control in Minnesota. Journal of Wildlife Management 72(3):778-784.

Harsch, M. A., Hulme, P. E., McGlone, M. S., & Duncan, R. P. (2009). Are treelines advancing? A global meta-analysis of treeline response to climate warming. Ecology letters, 12(10), 1040-1049. Jensen, W.F., T.K. Fuller, and W.L. Robinson. 1986. Wolf (Canis lupus) distribution on the Ontario-Michigan border near Sault Ste. Marie. Canadian Field-Naturalist 100:363-366.

Johnson, Norm, and Sally Duncan. "The future range of variability: project summary." National Commission on Science for Sustainable Forestry (2007). Available at: http://www.ncseonline.org/sites/default/files/D3%20Final%20Report.pdf/

Joyce, Linda A., and Richard Birdsey. "The impact of climate change on America's forests: a technical document supporting the 2000 USDA Forest Service RPA Assessment." General Technical Report-Rocky Mountain

Kalies, E. L., et al. "Community occupancy responses of small mammals to restoration treatments in ponderosa pine forests, northern Arizona, USA." Ecological Applications 22.1 (2012): 204-217.

Kattelmann, Richard. "A review of watershed degradation and rehabilitation throughout the Sierra Nevada." Watershed Restoration Management. American Water Resources Association, Bethesda, MD (1996): 199-207.

Kondolf, G. Mathias, et al. "Status of riparian habitat." Sierra Nevada Ecosystem Project: Final report to Congress. Vol. 2. 1996. Available at:

 $\label{lem:http://www.sierraforestlegacy.org/Resources/Conservation/FireForestEcology/ThreatenedHabitats/Riparian/AquaticRiparian-Kondolf96.pdf.$

Research Station, USDA Forest Service RMRS-GTR-59 (2000).

Kuglerová, Lenka, et al. "Towards optimizing riparian buffer zones: Ecological and biogeochemical implications for forest management." Forest Ecology and Management 334 (2014): 74-84.

Mech, L. D., S.H. Fritts, G.L. Radde, and W.J. Paul. 1988. Wolf distribution and road density in Minnesota. Wildlife Society Bulletin 16:85-87.

Mech, L D. 1989. Wolf population survival in an area of high road density. American Midland Naturalist 121:387-389.

Mladenoff, D.J., T.A. Sickley, R.G. Haight, and A.P. Wydeven. 1995. A regional landscape analysis and prediction of favorable gray wolf habitat in the Northern Great Lakes region. Conservation Biology 9: 279-294.

McCune, Bruce. "Ecological diversity in North American pines." American Journal of Botany (1988): 353-368.

Millar, Constance I., Nathan L. Stephenson, and Scott L. Stephens. "Climate change and forests of the future: managing in the face of uncertainty." Ecological applications 17.8 (2007): 2145-2151.

Noss, Reed F., et al. "Managing fire-prone forests in the western United States." Frontiers in Ecology and the Environment 4.9 (2006): 481-487.

Pollet, Jolie, and Philip N. Omi. "Effect of thinning and prescribed burning on crown fire severity in ponderosa pine forests." International Journal of Wildland Fire 11.1 (2002): 1-10. Available at: http://www.sierraforestlegacy.org/Resources/Conservation/FireForestEcology/FireScienceResear

ch/PrescribedFire/Prescribed-Pollet99.pdf.

Richardson, John S., Robert J. Naiman, and Peter A. Bisson. "How did fixed-width buffers become standard practice for protecting freshwaters and their riparian areas from forest harvest practices?." Freshwater Science 31.1 (2012): 232-238.

Rhodes, J.J., McCullough, D.A., and F.A. Espinosa, Jr. 1994. A coarse screening process for evaluation of the effects of land management activities on salmon spawning and rearing habitat in ESA consultations. Columbia River Intertribal Fish Comm. Tech. Rept. 94-4, Portland, OR.

Seager, R., M. Ting, Y. Kushnir, J. Lu, G. Vecchi, H. Huang, N. Harnik, A. Leetmaa, N. Lau, C. Li, J. Velez and N. Naik. 2007. Model projections of an imminent transition to a more arid climate in southwestern North America. Science 316:1181.

Seager, Richard, and Gabriel A. Vecchi. "Greenhouse warming and the 21st century hydroclimate of southwestern North America." Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 107.50 (2010): 21277-21282.

Thiel, R.P. 1985. The relationships between road densities and wolf habitat in Wisconsin. American Midland Naturalist 113: 404-407

Weaver, Harold. "Fire as a continuing ecological factor in perpetuation of ponderosa pine forests in western United States." Advancing Frontiers of Plant Sciences 18 (1967): 137-154.

Williams, A.P., C.D. Allen, A.K. Macalady, et al. 2012. Temperature as a potent driver of regional forest drought stress and tree mortality. Nature Climate Change (30 Sept.). DOI: 10.1038/NCLIMATE1693. Available at: http://www.researchgate.net/publication/231416131_Temperature_as_a_potent_driver_of_region al_forest_drought_stress_and_tree_mortality/file/d912f5069c2e9316b9.pdf.